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Board of Directors Report
Dear Shareholders,

It is a great honour and privilege for me to address all of you on behalf of the Board of Directors and present to you the Annual Report of your
Company for the year ended 31st December 2020.

COVID-19 Pandemic

This financial year has been a difficult one for the Board and the Management team alike, both exhausting all efforts to sustain the Company’s
operations and ensure its financial stability amidst the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, the Company has activated its
business continuity plan and risk management practices to combat the evident business disruption on its operations and financial performance.
The World Health Organization (WHO) has declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic on 11th March 2020. As a result, authorities around
the globe have taken various measures to contain the spread of this pandemic, with the primary focus concentrated on the safety of the general
public. Such measures involved implementing travel restrictions, quarantine measures, and the mandatory closure of public facilities among
many others.
The global disruption resulting from this pandemic was unprecedented and has resulted in an economic slowdown overcasting uncertainties on
the economic environment. The hospitality sector was one of the main sectors affected by this pandemic, sending it into a tailspin and forcing
hotels to navigate more uncertain waters than ever before.
With the announcement of the various economic stimulus programmes offered by the Government, we were able to sustain operations despite
the widespread decline in Occupancy and continued downward pressure on Average Room Rate, combined with several event cancellations. We
extend out thanks and gratitude to the wise leadership and Government for their actions taken and the various economic stimulus programmes
offered to support the sector and the Kingdom’s economy.

Financial Performance

Through tough cost control measures and vigilant monitoring of the market, coupled with the Government subsidies received, we have
managed to achieve a Gross Operating Profit of BD 1,133K (2019: BD 2,523K). Operating Revenues declined by 45%, reaching BD 3,911K
(2019: BD 7,058K). Occupancy averaged 29% for the year (2019: 47%) whilst ARR averaged BD 56 (2019: BD 60).
In accordance with IAS 36, an assessment of the potential impairment (i.e. difference between asset carrying amount and its recoverable value)
of the Company’s assets was performed at the end of financial year using the discounted cash flows of future business projections. In light of
the adverse effect that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on the Company’s business, indicators of impairment existed at year end; Impairment
of Property, Plant and Equipment (BD 819K) and Impairment of Investment Property (BD 4,455K).
In light of the above, it is unfortunate that we have to announce an unprecedented Net Loss of BD 5,513K, mainly as a result of recording nonoperating expenses such as Depreciation (BD 2,552K) and asset impairment (BD 4,927K).
Nevertheless, we remain cash positive and debt-free (apart from the usual ongoing operational expenses), and enter the financial year 2021
with a robust financial position; strong balance sheet, cash generative business model and access to liquidity.

Corporate Governance

I am also pleased to inform you that the Company complies with the Corporate Governance Code issued by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce
and Tourism. As customary, the Annual Report for the year includes the Board’s Corporate Governance Report for your reference.

Achievements and Strategic Outlook

Going forward, we will focus on further enhancing our services and business offerings. We also intend to further improve our service and
facilities within the Hotel and Residence and Commercial Office Tower. We continue to seek opportunities of growth and further revenue
generation within the Kingdom and beyond.

Recommendations to the Shareholders

The Board of Directors, having discussed the audited Financial Statements for the year 2020, submits the following recommendations for
endorsement by the Ordinary General Assembly with regards to the year 2020:

1) to declare and distribute a cash dividend of 8% of Nominal share value or 8 fils per share, resulting in a total dividend
distribution of BD 960,738.
2) to approve BD 55,000/- for the support of National Institutions and Charity Accounts already charged as an expense in the Income Statement.
3) to transfer the balance of the Loss of BD 5,512,664/- to the Retained Earnings Account.

Note of Thanks

Finally, I would like to express personally and on behalf of the Board of Directors and the Shareholders, my thanks and appreciation to His
Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al Khalifa and His Royal Highness The Crown Prince and Prime Minister, Prince Salman bin Hamad Al Khalifa, for
their relentless support and assistance to the Company.

I would also like to thank all the officials at the Government Ministries and Organizations, and our esteemed guests and customers for their
continuous support. I also express my sincere gratitude to all the members of our Board for their continued insights and invaluable guidance
that helped steer the operations during these difficult times. A special tribute is awarded to all the Company’s employees, led by the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, and the Executive Managers and staff members of the Diplomat Radisson Blu Hotel, Residence & Spa, and the Diplomat
Commercial Offices for their sincere efforts in serving the Company, which contributed to achieving the results of 2020.
With the Grace of God,
Faisal Ahmed Al Zayani
Chairman

Manama
18.02.2021
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Independent Auditors’ Report To The Shareholders
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of National Hotels Company BSC (the “Company”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statements of profit or loss, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) (IESBA Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matter - impact of COVID-19

We draw attention to note 24 to the financial statements which describes the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on
the Company’s operations, its results and related uncertainties. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment property
(refer to use of judgement and estimates in note 2(d), accounting policies in notes 3(a) and 3(b) and notes 4 and 5 to
the financial statements)

Description

We focused on this area because:

•

of the significance of property,
plant
and
equipment
and
investment property (representing
80% of total assets); and

•

Assessment of indicators of
impairment and estimation of
recoverable amount by the
Company involves judgement
and
estimation
uncertainty,
especially in the current operating
environment
arising
from
COVID-19.

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our audit procedures included:
•

Involvement of our own valuation specialists in:
- evaluating the Company’s process of identifying possible
indicators of impairment of the property and equipment;
- evaluating the parameters used by the Company to identify
indicators of impairment to ensure that these are reasonable;
- evaluating the appropriateness of the impairment assessment
methodology used by the Company; and
- challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions and input
used in estimating the recoverable amount of the property;

•

evaluating the adequacy of the Company’s disclosures related to
impairment of property and equipment in the financial statements
by reference to the requirements of the relevant accounting
standards.

7

Independent Auditor’s Report To The Shareholders of

NATIONAL HOTELS COMPANY BSC

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)
Other Matter

The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019, were audited by another
auditor whose report thereon dated 13 February 2020 expressed an unmodified opinion

Other information

The board of directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual report
but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditors’
report, we obtained the board of directors’ report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections
of the annual report are expected to be made available to us after that date.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of this
auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the board of directors for the financial statements

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report To The Shareholders of

NATIONAL HOTELS COMPANY BSC

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)
•
•
•

•
•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the board of directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on other regulatory requirements

1) As required by the Commercial Companies Law, we report that:
a) the Company has maintained proper accounting records and the financial statements are in agreement therewith;
b) the financial information contained in the board of directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements;
c) we are not aware of any violations during the year of the Commercial Companies Law or the terms of the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association that would have had a material adverse effect on the
business of the Company or on its financial position; and
d) satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in response to all our requests.
2) As required by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism in their letter dated 30 January 2020 in respect
of the requirements of Article 8 of Section 2 of Chapter 1 of the Corporate Governance Code, we report that
the Company has:
a) a corporate governance officer; and
b) a Board approved written guidance and procedures for corporate governance.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Jaafar Al Qubaiti.
KPMG Fakhro

Partner registration number 83
18 February 2021
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

31 December
2020
BD

31 December
2019
BD

4
5
6

30,101,545
33,185,572
6,804,606

34,135,204
36,798,965
7,995,852

7

72,750,703

2,000,000
83,671,272

8
7
9
10
10

73,945
2,064,063
399,073
2,500,000
1,435,960
6,473,041

106,798
61,515
465,104
1,000,000
2,029,491
3,662,908

Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investment in an associate
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Trade receivables and other assets
Bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

7

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
EQUITY
Share capital
Treasury shares
Statutory reserve
General reserve
Property revaluation reserve
Investments fair value reserve
Share of reserves of associate
Retained earnings
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

2,741,251

79,223,744

87,334,180

13

226,599
226,599

303,129
303,129

14

1,032,708
1,032,708
1,259,307

1,871,877
1,871,877
2,175,006

11
11
12
12
12

12,127,500
(94,726)
5,670,492
1,087,579
13,043,666
2,026,403
130,059
43,973,464
77,964,437
79,223,744

12,127,500
(94,726)
5,670,492
1,087,579
13,391,305
2,108,674
181,300
50,687,050
85,159,174
87,334,180

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Employees’ end of service benefits
Total non-current liabilities

2,658,980

Faisal Ahmed Al Zayani
Chairman

Abdulaziz Abdulla Alisa
Director

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Revenue from contracts with customers
Rental income
Total revenue
Operating costs

Notes
15
5

31 December
2020
BD
2,790,644
1,120,704

16

(2,778,107)

(4,533,906)

1,133,241

2,523,982

6

959,995
113,394
219,973

2,060,440
174,721
132,929

7

2,548

12,045

GROSS OPERATING PROFIT
Share of profit from an associate
Dividend income
Interest income
Change in fair value on investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Other income
Depreciation

General and administration expenses

Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
investment property

17

4,5
4
4,5

(Loss) / profit for the year
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in fils)

11

Faisal Ahmed Al Zayani
Chairman

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.

12

3,911,348

95,879

31 December
2019
BD
5,884,215
1,173,673
7,057,888

40,985

(2,551,754)
(430,633)

(2,790,889)
(574,297)

(4,927,253)

-

(5,512,664)

1,579,916

(46)

13

(128,054)

-

Abdulaziz Abdulla Alisa
Director

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For The Year Ended 31 December 2020

31 December
2020
BD

31 December
2019
BD

(5,512,664)

1,579,916

7

(82,271)

47,816

6

(51,241)

79,014

Notes
(Loss) / profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
- Net movement in fair value of Investments at fair value through
our comprehensive income during the period
- Share in associates’ other comprehensive income
- impairment of property, plant and equipment
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Faisal Ahmed Al Zayani
Chairman

(347,639)
(481,151)

(5,993,815)

-

126,830

1,706,746

Abdulaziz Abdulla Alisa
Director

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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14

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance at 31 December
2019

Issue of bonus shares

- Other comprehensive
income for the year
Total comprehensive
income for the year
Transfer to statutory
reserve

- Profit for the year

31 December 2019
Balance at
1 January 2019
Effect of adopting IFRS
16 by an Associate
At 1 January 2019
(restated):

Balance at 31
December 2020

- Loss for the year
- Other comprehensive
income for the year
Total comprehensive
income for the year
Dividends declared for
2019

At 1 January 2020
-

-

BD

General
reserve

BD

Property
revaluation
reserve

BD

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(347,639)

(347,639)

-

-

(82,271)

(82,271)

-

(5,512,664)

50,687,050

BD

Retained
earnings

(481,151)

(5,512,664)

85,159,174

BD

Total

-

(1,200,922)

(1,200,922)

(51,241) (5,512,664) (5,993,815)

(51,241)

-

181,300

BD

InvestShare of
ments
reserves of
fair value
associate
reserve

5,670,492 1,087,579 13,391,305 2,108,674

BD

Statutory
reserve

(94,726)
(94,726)

BD

11,025,000
-

11,025,000

-

-

1,102,500
(94,726)

-

-

12,127,500

-

-

-

BD

Share capital

-

Treasury
shares

BD

General
reserve

BD

Property
revaluation
reserve

BD

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

47,816

47,816

-

5,670,492 1,087,579 13,391,305 2,108,674

-

157,992

-

-

-

5,512,500 1,087,579 13,391,305 2,060,858

-

-

1,579,916

50,367,626

(1,675)

50,369,301

BD

Retained
earnings

181,300

-

-

50,687,050

(1,102,500)

(157,992)

79,014 1,579,916

79,014

-

102,286

-

102,286

BD

InvestShare of
ments
reserves of
fair value
associate
reserve

5,512,500 1,087,579 13,391,305 2,060,858

BD

Statutory
reserve

85,159,174

-

-

1,706,746

126,830

1,579,916

83,452,428

(1,675)

83,454,103

BD

Total

12,127,500 (94,726) 5,670,492 1,087,579 13,043,666 2,026,403 130,059 43,973,464 77,964,437

-

(94,726)

BD

-

12,127,500

BD

Treasury
Share capital
shares

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2020

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) / profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Loss / (profit) on write-off, disposals of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of investment property
Share of profit from an associate
Change in fair value on investments at FVTPL
Dividend income
Interest income
Interest expense
(Reversal) / charge of impairment on financial assets
Provision for employees’ benefits
Operating profit before working capital changes
Change in inventories
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in trade and other payables
Net cash flows from operations
Employees’ end of service benefits paid
Directors’ remuneration paid
Charitable contributions paid
Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Dividends received from an associate

Other dividends received
Interest received
Government bond proceeds
Investment in mudaraba
Bank deposits
Net cash flows from investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid
Finance cost paid
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Notes

4,5

6
7

9
13

13
18

4
6

7

19

10

31 December
2020
BD

31 December
2019
BD

(5,512,664)

1,579,916

2,551,754

2,790,889

471,822
4,455,431
(959,995)
(2,548)
(113,394)
(219,973)
234
(36,783)
51,998

(2,060,440)
(12,045)
(174,721)
(132,929)
3,711
27,666
52,739

813,936
32,853
66,031
(839,169)
73,651
(128,528)
(156,125)
(55,000)
(266,002)

2,074,355
(29,804)
(105,872)
208,197
2,146,876
(81,392)
(119,500)
(44,000)
1,901,984

(429,200)
2,100,000
113,394
182,499
(1,000,000)
966,693

(704,492)
1,900,000
174,721
205,869
2,000,000
(2,000,000)
(1,000,000)
576,098

(1,200,922)
(234)
(1,201,156)
(500,465)
1,933,003
1,432,538

(3,711)
(3,711)
2,474,371
(541,368)
1,933,003

128,054

(431)

The accompanying notes 1 to 25 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020
1. REPORTING ENTITY

National Hotels Company B.S.C. (the "Company") is a public joint stock company incorporated in the Kingdom of
Bahrain and registered with the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism under commercial registration (CR)
number 1665. The address of the registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 5243, Building 59, Road 1701, Block
317, Diplomatic Area, Kingdom of Bahrain. The Company owns the Diplomat Radisson BLU Hotel (the “Hotel”),
which is managed by Rezidor Hotel Company (“Rezidor”) under a management agreement dated 20 July 2000 which
was initially valid for 15 years. In 2007, the Company commenced the operations of its serviced apartments, which are
also managed by Rezidor under a management agreement dated 6 May 2003 which was initially valid for 12 years. In
2012, the Company commenced the operations of its office towers, which are managed by the Company directly. In
2015, the management agreement of the Hotel and serviced apartments was amended to extend the management
period up to 31 December 2030. The Company operates solely in the Kingdom of Bahrain. The financial statements
were approved by the Director on 18 February 2021.
Associate

The Company has a 33.33% interest in African & Eastern (Bahrain) W.L.L. (2019: 33.33%).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a)

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and requirements of the Commercial Companies Law.

Going concern basis of accounting
The board of directors continues is confident that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operation for
at least the next 12 months and that the going concern basis of accounting remains appropriate (refer to note 20
and note 24).
b)

Basis of measurement

c)

Functional and presentation currency

d)

Use of judgments and estimates

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the freehold land, investmentsat
fair value through profit or loss and investments at fair value through other comprehensive income that have been
measured at fair value.
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the Company operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Bahraini Dinars
(“BD”), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
judgements that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised, if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and any future period, if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit loss
(“ECL”). The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company calibrates the
matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
When the fair values of financial instrument recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the
discount model and adjusted net book asset value method. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.
Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, expected dividends and discount
factor. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on
an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based
on historical selling prices.

Revaluation of freehold land

The Company measures its freehold land at revalued amounts with changes in fair values being recognised in equity.
Revaluation of freehold land is normally carried out at least once in every three years. The assessment of the fair value
of the freehold land requires assumptions such as level of development in the area, current market trends, supply and
demand of the property, as well as location, population and type of neighborhood in the area.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear and
tear. Management reviews the residual values and useful lives annually and future depreciation charges would be
adjusted where the management believes the useful lives differ from previous estimates.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment property
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an estimate
of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the assets. The management has engaged external valuers to determine the fair values of its properties.
The 31 December 2020 valuation contains a ‘material valuation uncertainty’ clause due to the market disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in a reduction in transactional evidence and market yields. This
clause does not invalidate the valuation but implies that there is substantially more uncertainty than under normal
market conditions. Accordingly, the valuer cannot attach as much weight as usual to previous market evidence for
comparison purposes, and there is an increased risk that the price realised in an actual transaction would differ from
the value conclusion. As a result of this increased uncertainty, the assumptions may be revised significantly in 2021.
A sensitivity analysis on these assumptions is included in notes 4 and 5in 2021.

Going concern
Whether there are material uncertainties that may casts significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern. (refer Note 2(a)).
e)

New standards, amendments and interpretation effective from 1 January 2019

There were no new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations, which became effective as of 1 January
2020, that were relevant and material to the Company.
f)

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet adopted

IAS 1 – classification of liabilities as current and non-current.
Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when they do not have an unconditional
‘right to defer’ settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period. As part of
its amendments, the requirement for a right to be unconditional has been removed and instead, now requires that
a right to defer settlement must have substance and exist at the end of the reporting period. This assessment may
require management to exercise interpretive judgement.
Further, ‘a right to defer’ exists only if the company complies with conditions specified in the loan agreement at the
end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later date. This new requirement may
change how companies classify rollover facilities, with some becoming non-current.
The amendments state that settlement of a liability includes transferring a company’s own equity instruments to
the counterparty. When classifying liabilities as current or non-current a company can ignore only those conversion
options that are recognized as equity. Therefore, companies may need to reassess the classification of liabilities that
can be settled by the transfer of the company’s own equity instruments – e.g. convertible debt.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Company
does not expect a significant impact on its financial statements from adopting this amendment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a)

Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land, is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment in value. Freehold land is carried at revalued amounts. Freehold land is not depreciated.
Revaluation of freehold land is normally carried out at least once every three years. Any net surplus arising on
revaluation is credited to a revaluation reserve and any decrease resulting from subsequent revaluations is charged
directly against any related revaluation surplus held in respect of that same asset and the remaining portion charged
as an expense. On the subsequent sale or retirement of revalued freehold land, the additional revaluation surplus is
transferred to retained earnings.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
-

Buildings
Improvements to buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

40 years
15 years
15 to 20 years
7 years
5 years

(iii) Subsequent costs
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant
and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as the expense is incurred.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the assets) is included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
b)

Investment properties
(i) Recognition and measurement
Investment properties, except freehold land, are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment in value. Freehold land is not depreciated.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
- Buildings
40 years
- Plant and machinery
15 to 20 years
- Furniture, fixtures and equipment
7 years
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Subsequent costs

The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of existing investment properties at the time that cost is
incurred if the recognition criteria are met, and excludes the day to day servicing of investment properties.
Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of
change in use.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gain or losses
on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of
retirement or disposal.
c)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.
The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control over
subsidiaries. The Company’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of
the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the associate since the
acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither
amortised nor individually tested for impairment.
The statement of profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change in other
comprehensive income of this investee is presented as part of the Company’s other comprehensive income. Where
there has been a change recognised directly in equity of the associate, the Company recognises its share of any
changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Company and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in
the associate.
The aggregate of the Company’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the statement of
profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss for the year and non-controlling interests in the
subsidiaries of the associate.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Company measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in statement of profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
d)

Inventories

e)

Financial instruments

Inventories of food and beverage are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are those expenses
incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition and are determined on a weighted average
basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business
model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the
first reporting period following the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVTPL:
-

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis.
For the purposes of the assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest,
‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration
for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a
profit margin.
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In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
In making this assessment, the Company considers:
-

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

-

prepayment and extension features; and

-

terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
Financial assets at FVOCI are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the changes in other comprehensive income. Such changes in fair value are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
except when the Company benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:
-

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expire; or

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;
and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.
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(ii) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, at
amortised cost or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of those at amortised cost, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
Classification and Subsequent measurement

The Company classifies it financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
are measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The Company measures loss allowances for trade and other receivables based on simplified approach i.e. an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, however for cash and bank balances, measurement of loss allowances is based on 12-month
ECL.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Company’s historical experience.
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 90 to120
days past due. The Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after
the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).
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The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company
is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
Trade and other receivables - (Simplified approach)
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and other receivables from individual customers,
which comprise a very large number of small balances.
Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate (Net-flow)’ method based on the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency to the loss bucket. Recovery from the loss bucket is also considered for
computing the historical loss rates. Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data has been collected,
current conditions and Company view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. The forward
looking adjustment of the loss rates is based on a qualitative score card which factors the management’s view on the
future economic and business conditions

Cash and bank balances – (General approach)
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the
short maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk
based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) on all financial assets measured at amortised
cost. ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the
assets.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual customers, the Company individually
makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable
expectation of recovery. Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order
to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
(iv) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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f)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. When the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples,
quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.
g)

Cash and cash equivalents

h)

Fair value measurement

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank balances and
bank deposits with original maturity of 3 months or less, net of restricted cash.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
-

In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
-

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
i)

Provisions

j)

Revenue

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods supplied and services
rendered in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. The Company recognises revenue when it transfers
control over a good or service to a customer, and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Company’s
activities, as described below:

a) Sale of food and beverages
Revenue from sale of food and beverages is recognised when the food and beverage is delivered and have been
accepted by the customer. Invoices are generated at that point in time.
b) Room revenue
Room revenue from hotel operations represents total amounts charged to customers and guests during the
period including service charges plus unbilled guests ledger at the end of the reporting period. Revenue from
hotel operations is stated net of rebates and other allowances. These services are sold either separately or bundled
together with the sale of food and beverages to a customer.
c) Rental income
Revenue from property leased out under an operating lease are recognised on a straight line basis over the term of
the lease.
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d) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.
e) Dividend income
Dividend is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when
shareholders approve the dividend.
k)

Foreign currencies transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot
rate of exchange at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
l)

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.
An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s
other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the board of directors to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is available. Segment results that are reported to the board of directors include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
m)

Employees’ end of service benefits
Bahraini employees
Pensions and other social benefits for Bahraini employees are covered by the Social Insurance Organisation, which is
a “defined contribution scheme” in nature under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, and to which employees and employers
contribute monthly on a fixed-percentage-of-salaries basis.

Expatriate employees
Expatriate employees on fixed contracts are entitled to leaving indemnities payable under the Bahraini Labour
Law for the Private Sector of 2012, based on length of service and final remuneration. Provision for this unfunded
commitment, which is a “defined benefit scheme” in nature under IAS 19, has been made by calculating the notional
liability had all employees left at the reporting date.
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n)

Treasury shares

o)

Governmental levy

When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including any attributable
costs, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented
in the equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an
increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented within share premium.

The Company pays a Government levy calculated at a fixed percent of the Hotels’ total revenue (net of foreign
exchange gains) and is payable quarterly in arrears to the Government.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold
land

Cost / valuation

At 1 January 2020
Additions

13,779,508 29,791,341
-

Reclassification

Transfers (note 5)
Impairment

Disposals and write-offs

At 31 December 2020
Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 January 2020

-

Furniture,
Plant and
fixtures
and equip- machinery
ment

7,157,642

4,220,633

8,595,875

66,802

7,324

119,725

-

(109,080)

109,080

164,748

(164,748)

(347,639)

(278,550)

(125,560)

(58,517)

(9,195)

-

-

(777,749)

-

-

(97,080)

(18,330) (3,516,824)
(522,902) (2,527,678)

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

17,798 63,562,797

113,796

-

307,647

-

- (3,632,234)
-

(819,461)

- (3,828,329)

13,431,869 29,403,711

6,333,135

3,792,956

2,497,155

131,594 55,590,420

- 18,966,217

2,246,550

2,111,399

6,103,427

- 29,427,593

(6,521) (1,960,340)

- (2,025,040)

Reclassification

Transfers (note 5)
Charge for the year

Disposals and write-offs
At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amounts:

Improvements to
buildings

Buildings

At 31 December 2020 13,431,869

-

(38,619)

-

758,193

-

38,619

-

(58,179)

-

- 19,685,791

-

9,717,920

429,049

95,318

(95,318)

(777,749)

417,360

181,996

(513,377) (2,409,150)

1,878,290

2,104,179

1,820,615

4,454,845

1,688,777

676,540

-

-

-

1,786,598

- (3,700,276)

- 25,488,875
131,594 30,101,545

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected the travel and hospitality industries in Bahrain. Given the impact on
the business, the Company has determined that indicators of impairment existed at 31 December 2020 and accordingly conducted impairment tests to assess recoverability of its property, plant and equipment using discounted cash
flows that reflect the Company’s current best estimate, at the reporting date, of the expected impacts of the health
crisis and the economic conditions for recovery. The Company prepared a 5-year cash flow forecast. The discount
rate used corresponds to the weighted average cost of capital and terminal growth rate as at 31 December 2020
were 8.5% and 2.5% respectively. Accordingly, it recognised impairment losses of BD 819,461. An increase in the
weighted average cost of capital by 0.5% and reduction in the terminal growth would have impacted the valuation
by BD 2,094,521 and BD 2,623,313 respectively.
The Company has reviewed the allocation and usage of its property, plant and equipment and has determined that
certain items of its property, plant and equipment with a net book value of BD 1,607,194 are part of its office towers
segment and accordingly transferred these to investment property (refer to note 5).
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4.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Freehold
land

Furniture,
Plant and
fixtures
and equip- machinery
ment

Improvements to
buildings

Building

Capital
work-inprogress

Total

Cost / valuation
At 1 January 2019

13,779,508 29,791,341

Additions

Transfer of capital
work-in-progress
Disposals

At 31 December 2019
Accumulated
depreciation:
At 1 January 2019

8,491,046

-

-

257,982

7,095

173,019

12,048

450,144

-

-

141,612

-

-

(141,612)

-

-

-

-

-

(68,190)

-

(68,190)

4,220,633

8,595,875

17,798

63,562,797

- 18,221,085

1,583,241

1,781,007

5,694,733

-

27,280,066

At 31 December 2019

-

745,132

663,309

330,392

470,065

-

2,208,898

-

-

-

-

(61,371)

-

(61,371)

- 18,966,217

2,246,550

2,111,399

6,103,427

-

29,427,593

13,779,508 10,825,124

4,911,092

5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Freehold
land
Cost

At 1 January 2020
Transfers (note 4)
Impairment
At 31 December 2020
Accumulated
depreciation:
At 1 January 2020
ransfers (note 4)
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2020

30

147,362 63,180,843

7,157,642

Relating to
disposals

At 31 December 2019

4,213,538

13,779,508 29,791,341

Depreciation charge
for the year

Net carrying amounts:

6,758,048

Building

17,994,710
(2,129,969)

23,279,628
(2,156,775)

2,109,234

Improvements to
buildings
97,080
(2,581)

2,492,448

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
18,330
(1,212)

17,798

Plant and
machinery
3,516,824
(164,894)

34,135,204

Total
41,274,338
3,632,234
(4,455,431)

15,864,741

21,122,853

94,499

17,118

3,351,930

40,451,141

-

4,475,373
583,078

58,179
17,097

6,521
2,685

1,960,340
162,296

4,475,373
2,025,040
765,156

-

15,864,741

5,058,451
16,064,402

75,276
19,223

9,206
7,912

2,122,636
1,229,294

7,265,569
33,185,572
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
Freehold land
Cost as at 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2019
Accumulated depreciation:
At 31 December 2019

Building

Total

17,994,710

23,279,628

41,274,338

-

3,893,382
581,991

3,893,382
581,991

-

4,475,373

4,475,373

17,994,710

18,804,255

36,798,965

The investment property was valued by an independent valuer and total fair value amounted to BD 33,163,768 as
of 31 December 2020 (2019: BD 40,322,106). Rental income derived from investment property amounted to BD
1,120,704 (2019: BD 1,173,673). The fair value measurement was based on investment capitalisation approach
and accordingly has been categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Significant assumptions used are the
capitalisation rate of 7% and full occupancy of the property. Accordingly, the Company have recorded a loss for
impairment of investment property for the year amounting to BD 4,455,431. The Company has no restrictions
on the realisability of its investment property and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop
investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements.
A sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the impact of recoverable amount as compared to the carrying value
of the asset. The capitalisation rate of income and the assessment of income under the highest and best use of the
property were the two variable factors considered in the analysis to have the most significant affect in the overall
determnation of the recoverable amount. An increase in the capitalisation rate by 0.5% and a reduction in income
by 5% would have impacted the valuation by BD 3,758,560 and BD 1,658,188 respectively.

6. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
The Company has a 33.33% (2019: 33.33%) interest in African & Eastern (Bahrain) W.L.L., which is incorporated
in the Kingdom of Bahrain and is involved in the business of investment in bonds and shares as well as importing
and selling consumer products. African & Eastern (Bahrain) W.L.L. is a private entity that is not listed on any public
exchange. The Company’s interest in African & Eastern (Bahrain) W.L.L. is accounted for using the equity method
in the financial statements. Movements during the year are as follows:
2020
2019
BD
BD
At 1 January
Effect of adoption of IFRS 16
Balance at 1 January (restated)
Share of profit during the year
Share in associate's other comprehensive income
Adjustment to the associate’s reserve
Dividends received during the year
At 31 December

7,995,852
-

7,758,073
(1,675)

7,995,852
959,995
(53,241)
2,000
(2,100,000)
6,804,606

7,756,398
2,060,440
79,014
(1,900,000)
7,995,852
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6. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Company’s investment in African & Eastern
(Bahrain) W.L.L.:
2020
2019
BD
BD
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

5,696,767
15,667,281
(1,308,852)
(397,358)

9,486,084
16,059,737
(1,915,153)
(399,090)

Equity
Proportion of the Company's ownership

19,657,838
33.33%

23,231,578
33.33%

Share of the associate's net assets
Goodwill included within investment in the associate

6,552,613
251,993

7,743,859
251,993

Carrying amount of interest in associate

6,804,606

7,995,852

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Company’s share of total comprehensive income for the year

2020
BD

2019
BD

2,879,985
(159,725)
2,720,260
906,663

6,181,320
237,042
6,418,362
2,139,454

As at reporting date, the associate had contingent liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business which includes
outstanding letter of guarantee and tender cheques amounting to BD 7,137 (2019: BD 6,750).

7.

INVESTMENTS

a) Equity Investments at FVOCI
Quoted equity Investments
Unquoted equity Investments
The movement in the equity investments at FVOCI is as follows:

Balance at 1 January
Change in fair value during the year
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2020

2019

BD

BD

2,307,041
351,939
2,658,980

2,392,942
348,309
2,741,251

2020
BD

2019
BD

2,741,251
(82,271)
2,658,980

2,693,435
47,816
2,741,251
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7.
b)

INVESTMENTS (continued)
Equity Investments at FVTPL

Unquoted equity investment (i)
Quoted equity investment

The movement in the equity investments at FVOCI is as follows:

2020
BD

2019
BD

2,000,000
64,063
2,064,063

2,000,000
61,515
2,061,515

(i) Unquoted equity investment of BD 2,000,000 (2019: BD 2,000,000), represents Restricted Investment Account
(RIA) Mudaraba Certificates pertaining to underlying investment in International Commodity Murabaha Financing
for Corporate (Real Estate) entities with Kuwait Finance House “KFH” – Bahrain portfolio. The RIA Mudaraba
Certificates mature on 3 September 2021 and carries an interest rate of 6.5% per annum.
The movement in the fair value of the investment at FVTPL is as follow:

2020

2019

BD

BD

2,061,515

2,049,470

2,548

12,045

2,064,063

2,061,515

2020

2019

BD

BD

Food and beverages

43,276

71,504

General stores

30,669

35,294

73,945

106,798

Balance at 1 January
Change in fair value during the year

8. INVENTORIES

Inventories recognised as expenditure in gross operating costs during the year amounted to BD 178,054 (2019: BD
544,072).
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9. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
Trade receivables
-third parties
-related parties (note 18)

Less: Provision for expected credit loss
Accrued receivables
Prepaid expenses
-third parties
-related parties (note 18)
Contract asset
Advances to suppliers and contractors
Other receivables

2020
BD

2019
BD

212,117
432
(52,901)

329,839
2,006
(89,684)

159,648

242,161

76,084

74,711

132,079
2,307
1,045
27,910
399,073

103,070
17,997
17,630
2,813
6,722
465,104

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Receivables relating to current guests are due on departure. Receivables
relating to other operations and corporate guests are generally due upon invoicing. Movement in the allowance for
expected credit loss of receivables was as follows:

At 1 January
(Reversal) / charge for the year
At 31 December

2020
BD

2019
BD

89,684
(36,783)
52,901

62,018
27,666
89,684

Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. It is not the practice
of the Company to obtain collateral over receivables except post dated cheques for a small number of receivable
balances.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows consist of the following statement of financial position
amounts:
2020
2019
BD
BD
Cash on hand
6,811
7,807
Cash at banks
1,429,149
2,021,684
Cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of financial position
Less: Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of cash flows
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1,435,960

2,029,491

(3,422)

(96,488)

1,432,538

1,933,003
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10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
Bank deposits of BD 2,500,000 (2019: BD 1,000,000) have an original maturity date of more than three months. The
average interest rate on carried by these deposits for the year was 2.76% (2019: 3.8%). Restricted cash represents
collected dividends by the shareholders yet to be cleared.
The Company has an overdraft facility of BD 0.5 million to finance working capital requirements granted by financial
institutions in the Kingdom of Bahrain. The facility bear interest of 4.5% per annum above one month Bahrain
Interbank Offered Rate charged monthly.

11. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised:
150,000,000 (2019: 150,000,000) ordinary shares of BD 0.100 each

2020
BD

2019
BD

15,000,000

15,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
121,275,000 (2019: 121,275,000) shares of BD 0.100 each

12,127,500

12,127,500

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average number of ordinary shares purchased
by the Company and held as treasury shares, as follows:
2020
2019
BD
BD
(Loss) / profit for the year
(5,512,664)
1,579,916
Weighted average number of equity shares

120,092,219

120,092,219

(46)

13

Basic earnings per share in fils

Diluted earnings per share is same as basic earnings per share as the Company does not have any potential dilutive
instruments in issue.
Additional information on shareholding pattern
(i)
Names and nationalities of the major shareholders and the number of equity shares held in which they have
an interest of 5% or more of issued and fully paid shares.
Nationality
No. of shares
% holding
Kuwait Investment Authority
Social Insurance Organization (Pension) –
Civil & Military
Kuwait Investment Company
(ii)
(iii)

Kuwait

39,827,884

32.84

Kuwait

25,399,330

20.94

Bahrain

38,989,471

32.15

The Company has only one class of equity shares and the holders of these shares have equal voting rights.
Distribution schedule of equity shares, setting out the number of holders and percentage in the following
categories:
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11. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Categories*

Less than 1%
1% to less than 5%
5% to less than 10%
10% to less than 50%
50% and above

Number of No. of shares
11,253,404
5,804,911
104,216,685
-

121,275,000

* Expressed as a percentage of total issued and fully paid shares of the Company.

3,952
3
3
3,958

% holding
9.28
4.79
85.93
-

100.00

46.1% of the shares are held by Bahraini individuals and legal entities incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain and
53.9% by other nationalities. Total shares held by the directors at 31 December 2020 were 0.20% (2019: 0.20%).
Treasury shares
Treasury shares represent the purchase by the Company of its own shares. During the year, the Company did not
purchase any shares (2019: 1,182,781 shares with acquisition cost of BD 94,726). The market value as at reporting date
was BD 159,675 (2019: BD 242,470). These shares represent 0.98% of the total outstanding shares as at reporting date.

12. OTHER RESERVES

a) Statutory reserve
As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit
for the year has to be transferred to statutory reserve. The Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers
when the reserve totals 50% of the issued share capital. The reserve is not distributable except in such circumstances
as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law. The Company did not transfer an amount to statutory
reserve during the current year (2019: BD 157,992).
b) General reserve
The general reserve represents funds set aside for the purpose of future capital expenditure and to enhance the
capital base of the Company. There are no restrictions over the distribution of this reserve.
c) Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to the fair valuation of freehold land classified as property, plant and equipment,
owned by the Company.

13. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
Movements in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of employees’ end of service
benefits are as follows:
2020
2019
BD
BD
Balance as at 1 January
303,129
331,782
Provided during the year
51,998
52,739
(128,528)
(81,392)
End of service benefits paid
Balance as at 31 December
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14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Accrued expenses
Trade payables
Retentions payable
Amounts due to related parties (note 18)
Dividends payable (note 10)
Advances from customers
Provision for charitable contributions
Construction contractors payable
Contract liability
Other payables

2020
BD
400,981
165,217
216,626
3,422
56,558
45,000
126,428
11,863
6,613

2019
BD
562,292
289,856
275,314
270,166
227,654
89,502
45,000
32,333
18,938
60,822

1,032,708

1,871,877

2020
BD
929,304
609,618
1,143,518
108,204

2019
BD
2,363,816
1,878,912
1,396,300
245,187

15. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
Hotel rooms
Food and beverages
Serviced apartments
Other departments

16. OPERATING COSTS
Food and beverages
Room related expenses
Serviced apartments related expenses
Expenses related to office towers
Other operating costs

2,790,644

5,884,215

2020
BD
520,931
358,347
404,840
252,097
1,241,892
2,778,107

2019
BD
1,201,556
583,460
510,668
311,646
1,926,576
4,533,906

2020
BD
1,221,290
447,506
178,054
381,566
182,149
136,992
71,724
76,828
81,998
2,778,107

2019
BD
1,967,267
547,182
544,072
654,654
215,294
241,640
127,259
135,241
101,297
4,533,906

An analysis of gross operating costs on the basis of nature of expenses is as follows:

Payroll and related expenses
Overhead expenses
Consumption of inventories
Utilities, insurance and taxes
Repairs and maintenance
Commission expenses
Management fees (note 18)
Sales and marketing
Others
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17. OTHER INCOME
2020
BD
85,118
10,761
95,879

Government levy subsidy
Other Income

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

2019
BD

40,985
40,985

Related parties represent the associated company, major shareholders, directors and key
management personnel of the Company, the operator of the hotel and entities controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions
are approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.
Transactions with related parties included in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:
2020
Shareholder
Associate
Management company (Rezidor)
Directors

2019
Shareholder
Associate
Management company (Rezidor)
Directors

Share of profit
BD

959,995
959,995
Share of profit
BD

2,060,440
2,060,440

Management
fees
BD
BD

Other
expenses
BD

Revenues

Management
fees
BD
BD

Other
expenses
BD

Revenues

Purchases

20,982
20,982

71,724
71,724

Purchases

108,425
108,425

127,259
127,259

16,214
212,000
228,214

13,125
216,125
229,250

BD

612,744
2,793
615,537

BD

612,744
848
2,720
616,312

Balances with related parties included in the statement of financial position are as follows:
Trade and other receivables

Associate
Management Company (Rezidor)
Directors
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Trade and other payables

31 December
2020
BD

31 December
2019
BD

31 December
2020
BD

31 December
2019
BD

2,307
432
2,739

870
17,997
1,136
20,003

4,232
51,394
161,000
216,626

17,519
96,522
156,125
270,166
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (continued)
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Outstanding balances at the year end arise in the normal course of business and are unsecured, interest free and
settlement occurs in cash, and are usually settled within 30 days. There have been no guarantees received or provided
for any related party payable and receivable balances.
The directors’ remuneration charged to statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to BD 161,000 (2019: BD 156,125) which only includes the basic fees. Further, the directors’ remuneration
related to year ended 31 December 2019 paid during the year amounted to BD 156,125 (2019: BD 119,500 related
to year ended 31 December 2018).
Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly of the entity. The remuneration of key management
personnel, other than directors, during the year were as follows:

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

2020

2019

BD

BD

113,762

141,524

3,364

2,022

117,126

143,546

2020

2019

960,738

1,200,922

19. PROPOSED APPROPRIATIONS

Proposed appropriations:
Cash dividend

BD

BD

Proposed appropriation of the 2020 results are subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
During the annual general meeting held on 26 March 2020 the shareholders approved a dividend of BD 1,200,922
for the year 2019.
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Introduction
The Company manages risk through a process of ongoing identification and monitoring of the risks it faces. The
Company is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk and reputational risk.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies
and principles.
Executive committee
The executive committee is responsible for evaluating and approving business and risk strategies, plans and policies
of the Company. It is also responsible for market and liquidity risks pertaining to the Company’s investment activity
by optimising liquidity and maximising returns from the funds available to the Company.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Company’s overdraft facilities with floating interest rates.An increase in the interest rate on the
outstanding overdraft facilities by 100 basis points with all other variables held constant, would have changed the
profit for the year by an immaterial amount.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk on certain portion of its trade and other
receivables, balance with bank and investment in mudaraba. The Company places its deposits and funds with banks
and investment managers having good credit ratings and they believe that the related credit risk is minimal. With
regard to trade and other receivables, the Company seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by setting
credit limits for individual customers and monitoring outstanding receivables on an on-going basis.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:
2020
Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default
ECL

Net trade receivables

2019
Estimated total gross carrying
amount at default
ECL

Net trade receivables

Less than 31
days
BD
71,177

31 to 60
days
BD
45,218

61 to 90
days
BD
14,431

91 to 120
More
days
than120 days
BD
BD

Total
BD

212,549

(2,500)

(5,188)

(2,746)

50,534
(17,052)

112,325

76,888

68,770

38,110

35,752

331,845

(9,941)

(10,895)

(11,003)

(28,743)

(29,102)

(89,684)

68,677

102,384

40,030

65,993

11,685

57,767

33,482

9,367

31,189
(25,415)

(52,901)

5,774

6,650

159,648

242,161

The Company provides its services to a large number of customers. Its largest five customers account for 30% of
outstanding trade receivables at 31 December 2020 (2019: 39%).

40

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of the following financial assets:
2020

2019

159,648

242,161

27,910

6,722

BD

Trade receivables - net
Contract asset

BD

-

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

17,630

1,429,149

1,021,684

2,500,000

Bank deposits

1,000,000

4,116,707

2,288,197

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s objective when managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due,
under both normal and stressed conditions.
The COVID-19 measures imposed by Government of Bahrain, which the Company operates in to contain the
pandemic placed sever stress on the Company’s liquidity as revenue generating activities were restricted from
early March 2020 till reporting date. The Company has taken and continue to take actions to mitigate the impact,
including reducing capital expenditure and operating expenses. The Company believes that the effects of COVID-19
pandemic on its operations will continue to have a negative impact on its financial results and liquidity.
As at 31 December 2020, The Company has BD 4,304,141 of resources comprising cash and cash equivalents of
BD 1,435,960 and, other highly liquid assets (listed shares) of BD 2,368,181 and unused credit line available of BD
500,000 which will be sufficient to meet its obligations when they fall due. The Company’s associate continues to
perform well and is expected to continue to provide cash flows to the Company through dividend distribution.
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are
gross and undiscounted:
2020
Dividends payable (note 10)
Trade payables
Amounts due to related parties
Construction contractors payable
Other payables

Less than
3 months
BD

3 to 12
months
BD

1 to 5
years
BD

Total
BD

3,422
-

165,217
216,626
126,428
6,613

-

3,422
165,217
216,626
126,428
6,613

3,422

514,884

-

518,306
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Less than
3 months
BD

2019
Retentions payable
Dividends payable
Trade payables
Amounts due to related parties
Construction contractors payable
Other payables

275,314
227,654
502,968

3 to 12
months
BD
289,856
270,166
32,333
60,822
653,177

1 to 5
years
BD

Total
BD
-

275,314
227,654
289,856
270,166
32,333
60,822
1,156,145

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Company’s transactions are mainly in Bahraini Dinars and United Stated Dollars. The Company is not exposed to
significant currency risk as the Bahraini Dinar is pegged to the United States Dollar.
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices,
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all
instruments traded in the market. The Company controls equity price risk by diversifying its investments.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the cumulative changes in fair value to reasonably possible
changes in equity prices, with all other variables held constant.

2020
Change in
equity price
Equity investments
at FVOCI
Equity investments
at FVPL

2019

Effect on
equity

Effect on
profit

Change in
equity price

Effect on
equity

Effect on
profit

+20%
-20%

531,796
(531,796)

-

+20%
-20%

548,250
(548,250)

-

+20%

-

12,813

+20%

-

12,303

-20%

-

(12,813)

-20%

-

(12,303)

The Company also has unquoted investments carried at cost where the impact of changes in equity prices will only
be reflected when the investment is sold or deemed to be impaired, then the statement of profit or loss will be
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the Company. The board of directors monitors both the demographic spread
of shareholders, as well as the return on capital, which the Company defines as total shareholders’ equity and the
level of dividends to shareholders. The board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns and growth
that might be possible by a sound capital position. There were no significant changes in the Company’s approach to
capital management during the year.

21. FAIR VALUE
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Financial assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits, trade and other receivables and investments.
Financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables.
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value and analyses them by the
level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised as at reporting date.
2020

Level 1
BD

Investments at FVOCI
Investments at FVTPL

2,307,041
64,063
2,371,104

2019

Investments at FVOCI
Investments at FVTPL

Level 2
BD

Level 3
BD
-

351,939
2,000,000
2,351,939

Total
BD
2,658,980
2,064,063
4,723,043

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

BD

BD

BD

BD

2,392,942
61,515

2,454,457

-

-

348,309
2,000,000

2,348,309

2,741,251
2,061,515

4,802,766

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the year. The table below
shows a reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for fair value measurements in Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy:
2020
2019
Balance at 1 January
2,348,309
346,511
Addition during the year
2,000,000
Net change in fair value:
3,630
1,798
- in other comprehensive income
2,351,939
2,348,309
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21. FAIR VALUE (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
The fair value of other financial assets not measured at fair value include cash equivalents, bank balances, trade
receivables and other assets approximated their respective book values due to their short-term nature.
The fair value of other financial liabilities, including trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost which
is not materially different from to its carrying amount.
Non-financial assets not measured at fair value but where the fair value is disclosed
The fair value of the Company’s investment property and freehold land as at reporting date have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates. The fair value was determined by an independent
property valuer who has qualifications and experience in valuing similar properties based on investment
capitalisation approach that reflects the net potential income of the property over the capitalisation rate.
Accordingly, the fair value has been categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

22. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company’s operating businesses are organised into the following segments:
Hotel business and corporate

-

Office Towers

-

Office rental from two commercial towers.

Investments

-

Income from investments including the associate, equity investments and
bank deposits

Room rental, food and beverage sales, conferences and events, and head office
expenses.

Management monitors the operating results of the operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
operating profit or loss.
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, inventories, investments and accounts receivable. Whilst the majority of the assets can be directly
attributed to individual business segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by two segments is
allocated to segments on a reasonable basis.
Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist primarily of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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2019
BD

2020
BD

2019
BD

2020
BD

Total

2019
BD

1,579,916

(574,297)

-

2,163,971

28,272

6,320

229,414

4,715

1,259,306

2,175,006

1,001,620

2020
BD

(430,633)

(4,927,253)

Total liabilities

2019
BD

360,680

2,060,440

2,523,982

(4,533,906)

1,173,673

5,884,215

2019
BD

(2,679,808) (2,790,889)

431,794

959,995

1,133,241

(2,778,107)

1,120,704

2,790,644

1,846,823 (5,512,664)

(574,297)

-

-

360,680

2,060,440

-

-

-

-

Investments and
corporate

961,156

(430,633)

-

-

431,794

959,995

-

-

-

-

2020
BD

Total

30,574,563 34,707,106 33,185,572 36,798,965 15,463,609 15,828,109 79,223,744 87,334,180

2020
BD

Office towers

280,036

-

-

(581,991)

-

-

862,027

(311,646)

1,173,673

-

2019
BD

Investments and
corporate
2020
2019
BD
BD

Total assets

31 December

-

(4,455,431)

(546,943) (4,169,902)

-

Hotel business

(2,303,918)

(Loss) / profit for the year

* Including share of profit
of associate

-

General and administration expenses

-

(471,822)

-

Impairment

-

-

(2,096,730) (2,208,898) (583,078)

-

Other Income

-

Depreciation

-

Investment income - net*

264,634

Gross operating profit

868,607

(252,097)

(4,222,260)

(2,526,010)

Gross operating costs
1,661,955

1,120,704

-

-

-

2020
BD

5,884,215

2019
BD

Office towers

2,790,644

2020
BD

Hotel business

Revenue from contracts
with customers
Rental income

31 December
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23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company has a capital expenditure commitment of BD 225,000 related to the refurbishment of the hotel and
other related capital expenditures (2019: nil).
The Company has an outstanding guarantee of BD 4,050 as at reporting date (2019: BD 10,050).

24. IMPACT OF COVID-19

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic across the world and the measures adopted by governments worldwide
to mitigate its spread have sharply affected the travel and hospitality industries over the last 9 months of 2020.
The Company’s operations were heavily impacted with a 45% drop in its core revenue. These measures included
restriction on travel, border closings, lockdown, quarantines measures, closure of businesses. This has negatively
impacted the Company’s financial performance during the year and also its liquidity position (refer note 20). The
Government of Kingdom of Bahrain has provided financial support to businesses to mitigate some of the impact of
COVID-19. The Company has received some benefits from these Packages mainly in the form of temporary waiver
of Electricity and Water Authority utility bills, Government levy and partial reimbursement of salaries of employees
from the Unemployment Fund and exemption from remitting the government levy.
Included in statement of profit or loss is BD 156,479 of government support received relating to supporting the
payroll of Company’s employees, BD 119,756 relating to utility bills and BD 85,118 relating to Government levy. The
Company has elected to present the payroll and utility bills support by reducing the related expense. Government
levy has been presented in other income.
The management and the Board of Directors (BOD) have been closely monitoring the potential impact of the
COVID-19 developments on the Company’s operations and financial position; including possible loss of revenue,
impact on asset valuations, impairment, review of onerous contracts, outsourcing arrangements etc. Based on
their assessment, the BOD is of the view that the Company will continue as a going concern entity for the next 12
months from the date of this financial statements.

25. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. Such
reclassifications do not affect previously reported profit or equity.

46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT FOR THE
YEAR 2020

47

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR 2020

1-

Actions taken to complete the Corporate Governance Code

The Corporate Governance Code issued by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism on 28th March 2019 (as
amended) forms the cornerstone that the National Hotels Company BSC (the “Company”) adopts in conducting its
daily commercial transactions, while adhering the laws of the Kingdom of Bahrain
The Corporate Governance Code governs the relationship between the Company and its shareholders, Board of
Directors, Executive Management, Employees and other parties (such as customers, legal bodies, suppliers and all
individuals or corporates with whom the company transacts).
Implementing astute corporate governance is an important component of the company’s construct and hence the
Company ensures that all the transactions with all involved parties are conducted in a responsible and safe manner
at all times.
In addition, and in an effort to make the Company’s shares an attractive investment option for the existing shareholders
and new investors alike, the Company adopts a clear and transparent communication with all of its shareholders at
all times.
In doing so, the Company’s management periodically announces the results of its operations transparently and
accurately in line with the requirement of the Corporate Governance Code and International Accounting Standards,
in addition to the prevailing laws of the Kingdom of Bahrain.
Further to the above, the Company complies with the requirement of the Corporate Governance Code and ensures
compliance with best international practices.
This report reflects in a clear and transparent manner the Company’s compliance with and implementation of the
Corporate Governance Code content for the financial year 2020.

2-

Dealings of the Directors and their relatives in the Company’s Shares

There were no dealings conducted (sale / purchase) in the Company’s shares by the members of the Board of
Directors, their spouses or their children during the year.
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1

2

3

4

Faisal
Ahmed
Al Zayani

Independent /
non-executive

Adel
Nuhaba
Hamada

AbdulAziz
Abdullah
Alisa

Meshari
Zaid
Al Khalid

Experience and Qualifications

• A reputable Businessman in the Kingdom of
Bahrain
• He holds a PhD in Management.

From

Positions in any other key
regulatory, government
or commercial entities.

Name

The duration of his
term as a director of
the company starting
from the date of
his first election or
appointment

Directorships and
positions in any other
companies

No.

Type (executive, non-executive and independent)

3- Composition of the Board
A. Current Board of Directors composition:

To

30/4/1983 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Currently serving as the Director of
Investment Accounting Department at the
Kuwait Investment Authority.
• Has extensive experience in the Business
Management.
• Held several positions in the Presidential
Positions including General Manager of
Yousif Mohammed Al Shaya Group, Director
of Financial Affairs, Director of Purchasing
and Warehousing Department, Director of
Internal Audit Department, General Revenue
Controller and Head of Cost and Budget
Accounts at various periods in Kuwait Public
Transport Company.
• Held the position of Senior Accountant at
Kuwait Real Estate Investment Group.
• Holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from
the University of Kuwait and a Master’s degree
in management and management accounting
from Kens College of Business, London.

28/3/2018 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Currently serving as the Executive Director
of Legal Affairs and Secretary of the Board of
Directors of the Social Insurance Authority.
• Holds a Basic Supervision Diploma from the
University of Bahrain and a Bachelor of Law
from the University of Beirut.

29/3/2013 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

27/3/2002 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Currently serving General Manager of AlKhalid International Group, Kuwait.
• Has extensive experience in the Business
Management.
• Held several key positions, including; a General
Manager of the Kuwait Real Estate Investment
Group, Chairman and Managing Director
of Safat Real Estate Company, Executive
Committee member of the Egyptian Gulf Bank
and the Kuwait-Egypt Investment Company.
• Holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from
the college of Business Administration, Cairo
University.
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5

6

50

Faisal
Yousif Al
Meshari

Elham
Adel
Ahmed

7

Shehab
Ahmed
Haji

8

Abdulrahman
Ali
Marshad

Experience and Qualifications

From

Positions in any other key
regulatory, government
or commercial entities.

Name

The duration of his
term as a director of
the company starting
from the date of
his first election or
appointment

Directorships and
positions in any other
companies

No.

Composition of the Board (continued)
Type (executive, non-executive and independent)

3-

To

Non-executive

• Currently serving Assistant General
Manager for Investment and corporate
Finance at the Kuwait Investment
Company.
• Senior Manager within the Business
Development Department at the Kuwait
Investment Company.
• Held the position of Financial Analyst
at Kuwait and Middle East Financial
Investment Company.
• Holds a Bachelor’s Degree in finance from
the Administrative Sciences College University of Kuwait.

28/3/2018 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Senior Investment manager within the
strategic investments department at
Osool Asset Management BSC(c).
• Held the position of Financial Analyst at
Bahrain National Holding Company.
• Held the position of financial analyst at
Ithmaar Development Company.
• A Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and a
holder of a Bachelor’s Degree in Banking
and Finance from the University of Bahrain.

28/3/2018 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Currently works as an investment manager
in the General Reserve Sector at the
Kuwait Investment Authority.
• Held several positions in various banking
fields, most notably the position of
Relationship Officer at Gulf Bank in Kuwait.
• Holds a Bachelor’s Degree in financing
and management of financial institutions
- the College of Administrative Sciences
from the University of Kuwait.

28/3/2018 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL

Non-executive

• Held the Position of Chief Executive
Officer at National Hotels Company B.S.C.
(1979 to 2017)
• Has extensive experience in the Hospitality
sector and assets management field for
more than 35 years.

28/3/2019 31/3/2021

NIL

NIL
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3-

Composition of the Board (continued)

B. Description of the following:

1. The directors’ remuneration for the past year (2019) was BD 156,125.
2. The total directors’ remuneration proposed for the current year (2020) is BD 40,000, which will be presented
at the Annual General Meeting for approval.
3. The following is a list of the committee attendance fees of the respective directors for the financial year 2020:
Attendance allowances for committees of the Board

No.

Name

1

Abdulaziz Abdullah Alisa

2

Adel Nuhaba Hamada

3

Faisal Yousif Al Meshari

4

Meshari Zaid Al Khalid

5

Name of Committee
Executive, Nomination
& Remuneration
Committee
Executive, Nomination
& Remuneration
Committee
Executive, Nomination
& Remuneration
Committee

Value of the
Number of
allowance
meetings
(Bahraini Dinar)
750 /-

4

750 /-

4

750 /-

4

Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee

750 /-

4

Abdulrahman Ali Marshad

Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee

750 /-

4

6

Elham Adel Ahmed

Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee

750 / -

4

7

Shehab Ahmed Haji

Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee

750 /-

4

C. Meetings of the Board of Directors:

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company is required to hold at least four Board
meetings annually. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company held five
meetings to follow up on its activities and to direct the Executive Management. The first meeting was a physical
meeting held at the Company premises. The latter four meetings were held virtually, with partial physical
attendance by some members. The following table summarizes the information about the dates and member
attendance of those meetings.
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Composition of the Board (continued)

Board of Directors Meeting Schedule:
Meeting Number

Date of Invitation

1

20/1/2020

Date of the meeting
13/2/2020

3

1/7/2020

23/7/2020

2
4

5

28/6/2020

Attendance **

30/6/2020

23/9/2020

8

-

8 **

-

8*

22/10/2020

1/12/2020

Number of Absence
-

8 **

24/12/2020

-

8 **

-

* Six Virtual Attendees
** Five Virtual Attendees

D. Duties or competences carried out on its behalf by the Executive Management:

There were no Board of Directors specific tasks of assignments that have been carried out by the Executive
Management, based on the basis of a mandate from the Board.

E.

Details of transactions with related parties (stakeholders), indicating the nature of relationship
and type of transaction

Related parties represent the associated company, major shareholders, directors and key management
personnel of the Company, the operator of the hotel and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors. The following table shows the transactions made with related parties during the year,
indicating the nature of the relationship and the type of deal.

Transactions with related parties included in the statement of profit or loss are as follows:
Related parties

Associate company

Fees for
Other exManagement
penses
services
Bahraini Dinar

Revenue
and other income

20,982

-

-

Management Company (Rezidor)

-

71,724

16,214

-

Directors

-

-

212,000

2,793

20,982

71,724

228,214

2,793

Total
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Composition of the Board (continued)

F.

Organizational structure highlighting the Company’s first and second tier of the executive
management

Board
Directors

Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee

General Manager
"Hotel"

G.

4-

Executive, Nomination
& Remuneration
Committee

CEO

Group Chief
Accountant

Assistant Chief
Engineer

Property & Leasing
Manager

Total remunerations paid to the key executive officers during the financial year (2020) amounted to 266,749-/
Bahraini Dinars.

External Auditor

Upon a recommendation from the Board of Directors, the Ordinary General Assembly at its meeting held
on 26/3/2020 appointed Ms. “KPMG” as the external auditor of the Company for the financial year ended
31/12/2020, at an agreed fee of BD 14,000/-, which includes the review of quarterly data for the period.
Ms. “KPMG” have been the external auditor of the company since 2020. The external auditor has submitted an
unqualified opinion for the year 2020 to the Board of Directors, which will be presented at the Ordinary General
Assembly to be held on 25/3/2021.
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Commercial Companies Law of the Kingdom of Bahrain and the directives and
regulations issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain.
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External Auditor (continued)
The table below highlights the External Auditor’s details:

Name of Audit firm

KPMG

Years of service as the company’s external auditor

1 year

The partner in charge of the company's audit

Mr. Jaafar Al Qubaiti

Total audit fees for the financial statements for the year 2020 (BD)
Other special fees and charges for non-audit services other than auditing the
financial statements for the year 2020 if any. In the absence of such fees, this
shall be expressly stated.

5-

14,000/- BD
7,500/- BD

Audit & Corporate Governance Committee
The role of the Audit & Corporate Governance Committee is to advise on the establishment and maintenance
of a framework of internal control and appropriate ethical standards for the management of the Company. The
Audit & Corporate Governance Committee has the authority to conduct or direct any investigation required to
fulfil its responsibilities and has the ability to retain, at the Company’s expense, such legal, accounting or other
advisers, consultants or experts, as it considers necessary from time to time in the performance of its duties.
The Committee held four meetings during the year, and the following table highlights the details and the
attendance of the committee members for these meetings.

Audit & Corporate Governance Committee Attendance Table:
No.

Name

Position

Number of
meetings
attended

1

Meshari Zaid Al Khalid

4

2

Abdulrahman Ali
Marshad

Chairman of the Audit & Corporate
Governance Committee
Member

4

3

Elham Adel Ahmed

Member

4

*

4

Shehab Ahmed Haji

Member

4

*

* Virtual Attendance
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Dates of meetings held
12/02/ 22/07/ 21/10/ 23/12/
2020
2020
2020
2020

*

*

*

*

*
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6-

Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC)

7-

Corporate Governance Officer

The Board of Directors decided to assign the roles and responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee to the Executive Committee in 2019. The Committee resumed its duties and conducted its meetings
during 2020.

The Board of Directors has assigned the role of Corporate Governance Officer to the Chief Executive Officer since
joining the Company in 2019. The following is the resume of the Corporate Governance Officer:
Mr. Zaher Mohammed Al-Ajjawi has held many key positions during his professional career mainly in the field of
accounting, finance and banking. Through his work in international organizations in the United States, the United
Kingdom and the UAE, he has acquired many executive and operational skills in banking, investment and real estate
sectors. In addition, he has represented a number of companies on the boards and committees of several companies,
banks and funds, which gained him considerable experience in the field of corporate governance. Mr. Zaher has
participated in many investment conferences and international trade forums, and has attended several training and
professional courses, including a project management plan course (PMP) and financial analysis.
Mr. Al Ajjawi holds a Master's degree in Finance (with Honors) from DePaul University in the USA and a Bachelors
of science in Accounting (with Honors) from the University of Bahrain. He is also a Certified Public Accountant (CPA)
from the State of Illinois, USA.
Mr. Zaher can be contacted on the following numbers: 17530838 / 17530839 or e-mail: zalajjawi@nhcbahrain.com.

8-

Irregularities committed during the Financial Year

9-

Cash and in-kind contributions to Charities & National Establishments

No irregularities have been committed during the financial year 2020.

The Company provided many cash contributions to different charities and national establishments reaching a total
of BD 55,000/- in 2020. The Company maintains the details of these donations and details of the receiving parties
within its records.
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Shareholders information

A. The following table presents the Company’s shareholder distribution by type of shareholder
as of 31 December 2020:
No.

Shareholder classification

1

Individuals

Corporate

Government or
Organisations

Total

Local

12.29%

1.73%

32.15%

46.17%

2

Arab

-

0.05%

53.78%

53.83%

3

Foreign

-

-

-

-

Total

12. 29 %

1.78%

85.93%

100%

B.
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Shareholding %

The following table highlights the shareholders with a holding of 5% or more in the Company’s
share capital, with the name of the natural person / owner of the stock / final beneficiary, as of
31 December 2020:

No.

Name

No. of shares
held

Shareholding %

Name of the natural person, the final
beneficiary

1

Kuwait Investment Authority

39,827,884

32.84%

Government of Kuwait

2

Social Insurance Organisation

38,989,471

32.15 %

Government of the Kingdom of
Bahrain

3

Kuwait Investment Company

25,399,330

20.94 %

Government of Kuwait

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR 2020

10-

Shareholders information (continued)

C. The following table highlights the shareholder distribution by size of ownership as of 31
December 2020:
No. Distribution of ownership Stock

Number of
shareholders

Number of
shares owned

Percentage of shares
owned by the capital

3,925

3,554,250

2.93%

1

< 50,000

2

50,000 to 500,000

21

3,488,957

2.88%

3

500,000 to 5,000,000

9

10,015,108

8.26%

4

> 5,000,000

3

104,216,685

85.93%

3,958

121,275,000

100.00%

Total

D. The significant events that occurred during the year 2020
Nil.
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Compliance with the provisions of Corporate Governance Code:
Principle

Principle 1: The Company
shall be headed by an effective, qualified and expert board.

Principle 2: The directors
and executive management shall have full loyalty
to the Company.

Principle 3: The Board
shall have rigorous controls for financial audit and
financial reporting, Internal control and compliance with law.

58

Noncompliant

partially
Compliant

Fully
compliant

Explanation in case of non-compliance
Subsection 1 requires that at least half of the directors
shall be non-executive directors and at least three shall
be independent. Subsection 5 requires that at least one
third of the Board shall consist of independent directors.
All of the eight Board members are non-executive, whilst
only two are independent members. The Company’s Articles of Association states that six of the eight Board
members are appointed by the three key shareholders
(i.e. two members each). Therefore, the Company is not
in full compliance with this requirement due to the board
construct.
More importantly, the majority shareholders represent
Government Bodies who exercise utter vigilance in ensuring that a strong code of governance is implemented
and minority interests are safeguarded at all times. Finally, and under the current circumstances, limited size of
operations and level of business complexity, the board
does not see a compelling need to appoint a third independent director. Instead, it adopts other measures
to ensure independence of decisions and the protection of its minority shareholders, such as; periodic independent audits and reviews conducted by professional
companies, transparency of reporting and disclosure to
shareholders, emphasis on implementing sound ethics
and independent decision / judgement by the Executive
Management, etc.. As a result, the Board does not perceive a dilution of the independence and objectivity of
the Board or its committees.

Subsection 1 requires that the Audit Committee should
consist of at least three directors and majority of them
are independent, including its Chairman.
Currently, the Audit Committee is composed of four
directors, one of whom is independent. However, the
current Chairman of the Audit Committee is a non-independent director. All non-independent directors represent Government Bodies, exercising prudence and high
levels of ethics. The Board is of the opinion that this does
not necessarily dilute the corporate governance standards set or implemented.
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Principle

Principle 4: The Company
shall have effective procedures for appointment,
training, and evaluation of
the directors
Principle 5: The Company
remunerate directors and
senior officers fairly and
responsibly

Noncompliant

partially
Compliant

Fully
compliant

Explanation in case of non-compliance
Subsection 1 requires that the Nomination Committee
should consist of at least three directors and majority of
them are independent, including its Chairman.
Currently, the Nomination Committee is composed of
three directors, however, none of them are independent. Directors represent Government Bodies, exercising prudence and high levels of ethics. The Board is of
the opinion that this does not necessarily dilute the corporate governance standards set or implemented.

Principle 6: The Board
shall establish a clear and
efficient
management
structure for the Company and define the job
titles, powers, roles and
responsibilities.
Principle 7: The Company
shall communicate with
shareholders, encourage
their participation, and respect their rights.

Principle 8: The Company
shall disclose its corporate
governance.
Principle 9: The Board
shall ensure the integrity
of the financial statements
submitted to shareholders through appointment
of external auditors.

Principle 10: The Company shall seek, through
social responsibility, to
exercise its role as a good
citizen.

12- Any other disclosures required by the regulatory authorities
In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the resultant impact on businesses within the Kingdom, the Central
Bank of Bahrain (“CBB”) has issued its letter dated 14th July 2020 (ref. OG/259/2020) requesting all listed
companies to prepare and disclose an additional report that highlights the impact of COVID-19 on their
respective operations (“Supplementary Disclosure – Financial Impact of COVID-19”).
Accordingly, the Company has prepared and shared the Supplementary Disclosure – Financial Impact of
COVID-19 for the respective periods (2nd Quarter, 3rd Quarter and Year-end 2020). These reports have been
published on the Bahrain Bourse website.

59

60

